2009

Marlene Stone v. Richard Flint, Judy Flint : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

Jurisdictional Statement

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j) (2008).

Statement Of The Issues

1. Did the trial court err in determining that the Real Estate Purchase Contract between Appellants and Appellee was facially unambiguous and thereby excluding parol evidence from the case notwithstanding the fact that the Contract and Bill of Sale expressly included personal property outside the surveyed boundary of the real property?

Determinative law for issue No.1: *Flores v. Earnshaw*, 2009 UT App 90; *Café Rio v. Larkin-Gifford-Overton*, 2009 UT 27, 207 P.3d 1235; *Daines v. Vincent*, 2008 UT 51, 190 P.3d 1269.

Standard of Review for Issue No. 1: A reviewing court “review[s] a district court’s interpretation of a written contract for correctness, granting no deference to the court below.” *Café Rio* ¶ 21.

Issue preserved in the record: The issue was preserved in the record at Transcript Volume 1, pp. 195-197; 205-229.

2. Did the trial court err in excluding witnesses under Utah R. of Evid. 401 when their testimony was that Appellee attempted to sell them the same personal property and real property that Appellee sold to the Appellants?

Determinative law for issue No.2: *Daines v. Vincent*, 2008 UT 51, 190 P.3d 1269.

Standard of Review for Issue No. 2: A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Daines* ¶ 21. A trial court's ruling on evidence will be reversed if it was beyond the limits of reasonability. *Id.*

Issue preserved in the record: The issue was preserved in the record in Transcript Volume I, pp. 131-141.

3. Did the trial court err in its finding that certain farm equipment was not located on Appellee's property at the time of the sale?

Determinative law for issue No.3: *Western Capital and Securities, Inc. v.*

Knudsvig, 768 P.2d 989 (Utah App. 1989); *Maughan v. Maughan*, 770 P.2d 156 (Utah App. 1989); *Reid v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co.*, 776 P.2d 896 (Utah 1989).

Standard of Review for Issue No. 3: A trial court's findings of fact will be reversed if clearly erroneous. *Gilmour v. Cummings*, 904 P.2d 703, 706 (Utah App. 1995).

Issue preserved in the record: The issue was preserved in the record at R. Trans. Vol. 1, pp. 38-39, 60-63, 66-71, 88, 90, 145-149.

Statement Of The Case

Nature of the Case:

The case heard by the trial court is a breach of contract and/or conversion claim between the vendor and vendee of real property and farm-related personalty located in Hooper, Utah. At issue is whether the Appellants/Defendants/Counterclaimants (hereinafter “Flints”) purchased all personal property of the Appellee/Plaintiff/Counterdefendant (hereinafter “Stone”) that constituted farm equipment on her entire seventeen acre parcel, or merely the personal property located on the two-acre parcel. Ultimately, the trial court found that it had to construe the language of the parties’ Real Estate Purchase Contract, with its associated Addenda, and a Bill of Sale.

Course of Proceedings:

This case was filed on 13 November 2008 in the Second Judicial District for Weber County. Plaintiff Stone initially filed an eviction action against the Defendant Flints alleging that Defendants committed waste on fifteen acres that Defendant Flints leased from Plaintiff Stone. Defendants filed an answer and counterclaim on 20 November 2008 alleging causes of action for trespass, breach of contract, and conversion, and breach of the covenant of quiet enjoyment. On 2 February 2009 the parties reached a Settlement Agreement in which Stone agreed to drop her claims against the Flints, and the Flints agreed to drop all claims except for their claim for breach of contract and conversion against Stone. In addition, the parties agreed to the terms and conditions of a Joint Motion for Stipulated Temporary Injunction (R. at Exh. 7, ¶8 of Confidential

General Release and Settlement Agreement; Add. C). On 3 March 2009 the parties filed a joint Motion for Stipulated Temporary Injunction enjoining Plaintiff Stone from trespassing on Flints' property, enjoining Stone from direct contact with the Flints or from parking or driving on their property, and enjoining Stone from any stalking behavior. On 15 April 2009 at trial the parties stipulated to dismiss all actions except the issues of the ownership of numerous fence panels and gates, and three lounging/loafing sheds on Stone's real property.

Disposition by Trial Court:

All of the claims were resolved in the above-entitled action as a result of the final judgment of the trial court dismissing the Flints' Counterclaim on 1 June 2009. This appeal is taken from the court's Memorandum of Decision dated 24 April 2009, and it's Orders Dismissing the Flints' Counterclaim and making Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, both dated 1 June 2009. (R. at 0069-79; 0087-88; 0089-96.)

Statement of Facts

1. Stone owned real property known as 6006 S. 7100 W. in Hooper, Utah, consisting of approximately seventeen acres. (R. at 0089.)
2. Stone listed the property for sale on the multiple listing services, giving prospective buyers three options: 1) purchase all seventeen acres, 2) purchase two acres, or 3) purchase one acre. (R. at 0089-90.)
3. The Flints were interested in the property. They and their realtor Joe Adair met with Plaintiff on 1 February 2008. (R. at 0090.)

4. During this initial meeting, Stone explained that her husband had recently passed away, that she wanted to be relieved of the burden of managing the property by herself, and that she was interested in selling, preferably, all of her seventeen acres, including the structures on the property, but was willing to sell it in smaller parcels. Because the Flints could not afford all seventeen acres, the Flints indicated their interest in two acres. Mr. Flint inquired, “Does all of this stuff stay with the property?” Stone replied affirmatively. When Flint asked his question, he was looking out of Stone’s bedroom window, facing to the east of Stone’s property, overlooking the hay barn, horse, barn, and various items of personal property. The structures included mobile fencing, called panels; mobile gates; movable open sheds for animals, called loafing sheds; waterers and feeders for livestock, and a horse walker. (R. at 0090; Vol. 1, pp. 145-149; 185-186.)
5. The Flints expressed to Stone that they wished to purchase two acres, including the home and the two barns. (R. at 0090.)
6. Stone explained that if the Flints bought only the two acres, she would retain a sixty-six-foot-wide strip lying on the northern part of the property and extending eastward, because she needed access to her remaining fifteen (15) acres in the back. Without this access, Stone would have been unable to access her property. (R. at 0090.)
7. Stone also explained that a survey of the two acres would be necessary in order to create separate legal descriptions for the two acres and the remaining fifteen

acres. At that time, the boundaries of the proposed two acres were undetermined. (R. at 0090-91.)

8. After the parties discussed the Flints' interest in only two acres and Stone said that the two-acre lot being sold them included "all the loafing sheds, all the gates, all the panels, all the waters, all the feeders, the horse barn and the hay shed", no further discussion took place regarding any structures, including the horse walker until after the sale. (R. at 0091; Vol. 1, pp. 145-149; 185-186.)
9. Based on earlier discussions, the Flints believed that they were buying all the personal property on the entire seventeen acres as part of the purchase. (R. at 0091.)
10. On 1 February 2008, the Flints' real estate agent, Joe Adair, prepared and presented a real estate purchase contract ("REPC") to Stone. The first addendum to the REPC provided that Stone would have the property surveyed and the four corners staked to the satisfaction of the Flints. The addendum also listed the structures included in the sale as "all lounging/loafing sheds, panels, gates, feeders/waterers and horse walker as presently exist." (R. at 0031; 0091; Exhibit or Exh. 1; Addendum or Add. A.)
11. As agreed, Stone had the property surveyed and the four corners staked just prior to closing, which occurred on 16 April 2008. (R. at 0092.)
12. At the time of closing, two feeders, waterers, the horse walker, four sixteen-foot and eleven ten-foot panels, four mobile gates, and three lounging/loafing sheds were physically located on Stone's remaining fifteen acre parcel. Two

feeders, three lounging/loafing sheds and a much smaller number of panels and gates were physically located on the Flints' property, plus 12 square panels (R. at Vol. 1, pp. 38-39, 60-63, 66-71, 88, 90, 145-149.)

13. The Flints subsequently took possession of the two acres, as well as feeders, waterers, and the horse walker, all located on Stone's property. (R. at Vol. 1, pp. 148-49, 66-68; Add. C.)
14. The horse walker was a large structure with a cement slab and was located on Appellee Stone's property after the Flints' two-acre lot was surveyed. Stone and the Flints expressly agreed to such, stating that the horse walker "is located on the STONE'S real property but which is the property of Flint pursuant to a 16 April 2008 Real Estate Purchase Contract and accompanying Bill of Sale of the same date." (R. Add. 3; Exh. 7, ¶9 of Confidential General Release and Settlement Agreement; R. at 0032; Vol. 1, p. 125)
15. Contemporaneous with the closing, Stone leased the remaining fifteen acres to the Flints. The lease has since been terminated by mutual agreement. (R. at 0093.)
16. Flints assumed the original address 6006 S. 7100 W. in Hooper, Utah upon the purchase (i.e at closing) of Stone's home and two acres. At an unknown date following the sale of Stone's home and lot, Stone received a new address for her remaining 15 acres, known as 5990 S. 7100 W., in Hooper, Utah. (R. at 0092-93.)

17. Contemporaneously with the closing of the real property, the title company prepared a bill of sale that Plaintiff signed and Defendants accepted in the closing. The bill of sale transferred title to “that certain personal real property now at 6006 S. 7100 W., Hooper, Utah.” (R. at 0032; see Exh. 2 and Add. 2.) The bill of sale then enumerated the personal property specified in the first addendum to the REPC “as presently exist.” Exh. 2; Add. 2; (R. at 0031-32.)
18. The Flints proffered the testimony of Jeffrey Dean Harris and his wife Vickie Harris, who were potential buyers of the same two-acre parcel that Ms. Stone sold the Flints. (R. at Vol. 1, pp. 132-141.) The Harris couple found Stone’s two-acre lot on the multiple listing service and viewed the property with their realtor. At trial, when Jeffrey Harris was asked by Flints’ counsel what personal property (i.e. farm equipment) Ms. Stone stated was included with the purchase of the two-acre parcel, Stone’s counsel objected on numerous grounds. *Id.* The trial Court excluded the testimony of Jeffrey Dean Harris and his wife Vickie Harris for lack of relevancy. The court stated, “I just don’t think it’s relevant.” (R. at Vol. 1, p. 141.) The court stated, speaking of Ms. Stone, “If she said something that she’s now denying in this trial, and Mr. Flint is contending that it occurred, and she told him, then it would be very relevant, because it would be an admission against interest the fact that she makes a different offer to a different person on a different day can’t be controlling in this case.” *Id.*

19. After the sale a dispute arose concerning the lease. At that time Ms. Stone for the first time told Mr. Flint that he had to remove the horse walker to his property and informed him that she disputed the Flints' ownership of three of the loafing sheds and the mobile panels and gates located on her property. She did not raise a dispute over feeders, waterers and the horse walker that were on her property. Further, this was the first discussion between the parties concerning the horse walker. (R. at Vol. 1, pp. 66-69, 186-187; see also Vol. 1, pp. 38-39, 60-63, 66-71, 88, 90, 145-149.)

Summary of Argument

The trial court conducted a full trial on Flints' (Defendants'/Appellants') counterclaims for breach of contract and conversion concerning whether the three loafing sheds and numerous mobile panels and gates were their property pursuant to the parties' agreement. The court reviewed the Real Estate Purchase Contract (REPC) between the parties and determined that, according to the four corners rule, the document was unambiguous. The Flints appealed. Three issues arise from the trial court's decision below. The first issue concerns whether the Real Estate Purchase Contract is unambiguous; the second issue concerns whether the court wrongfully excluded witnesses; the third issue concerns misstatements of fact in the trial court's Findings of Fact.

The trial court erred in finding that the REPC was unambiguous because the REPC is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation. At issue is whether the term "all",

used in the REPC and Bill of Sale in conjunction with a list of farm-related personalty, referred to ‘all’ Stone’s farm-related personal property on her adjoining acreage, the personalty located on the two-acre lot sold to the Flints, or some combination of the two. The court found the language unambiguous even though the REPC and Bill of Sale specifically called out items which were not on the two-acre lot sold to the Flints and were not separately discussed or negotiated for by the parties. Notably, the Bill of Sale language selling “that certain personal property now at 6006 S. 7100 W., Hooper, UT” expressly included a horse walker that was not physically located at the new address. In addition, waters and feeders that were on Stone’s property at the time of closing were possessed by the Flints. This extrinsic evidence also informs the court of the ambiguity existing in the REPC and Bill of Sale, and opening the door to use parol evidence to determine the parties’ intent in the sale.

The trial court also erred when it excluded the testimony of two witnesses for the Flints that were going to testify that they met with Ms. Stone and were interested in buying the same two-acre property as the Flints. Their testimony of what personal property (i.e., farm-related equipment) Ms. Stone stated was included in the sale was excluded because the court found it irrelevant. The trial court reasoned that the discussion was not the same transaction and therefore irrelevant.

Finally, the court’s Findings of Fact omitted certain salient facts critical to the court’s decision. Specifically, the court omitted the fact that at the time the parties closed on the real estate purchase, two feeders, several waterers, a horse walker, four sixteen-foot and eleven ten-foot panels, four mobile gates, and three lounging/loafing sheds were

physically located on Stone's adjoining parcel. The Flints gave testimony that they took possession of the feeders, waterers and the horse walker following the sale. While the court acknowledged in the Findings of Fact that the three lounging/loafing sheds, horse walker and the mobile gates and panels were on Appellee Stone's property at the time of sale, the court failed to acknowledge that feeders and waterers were located on Stone's property as well, and that the Flints took possession of these items after the sale. Further, the court misstated the evidence concerning whether the parties negotiated over the horse walker and looked to (and misstated) parol evidence taken at trial to reach its decision, notwithstanding its alleged reliance on the four-corners rule.

Argument

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE REAL ESTATE PURCHASE CONTRACT WAS UNAMBIGUOUS.

The trial court erred in its finding that the Real Estate Purchase Contract ("REPC") and its accompanying addenda were not facially ambiguous, because the language contained therein was subject to more than one reasonable interpretation.

A contractual term or provision is ambiguous "if it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation because of uncertain meanings of terms, missing terms, or other facial deficiencies." *Daines v. Vincent*, 2008 UT 51, ¶ 25 (quoting *WebBank v. Am. Gen. Annuity Serv. Corp.*, 2002 UT 88, ¶ 20) (internal quotations omitted). Although the language of the contract itself is to be the primary source in making a determination of ambiguity, other evidence—if available—should be considered to determine whether

ambiguity exists. *Daines* at ¶ 26. After examining the four corners of the document and any relevant evidence, if the court finds that the provisions in question are capable of more than one reasonable interpretation, parol evidence should be admitted to determine the parties' intentions. *Flores v. Earnshaw*, 2009 UT App 90, ¶ 9 (Utah 1995).

In this case, the trial court held that an Agreement consisting of a Real Estate Purchase Contract and various addenda was facially unambiguous. However, the provisions at issue in the trial court are capable of more than one reasonable interpretation, and thus are ambiguous.

The trial court rested its determination that the contract was facially unambiguous on two grounds. First, that Clause 1.1 of the REPC unambiguously asserted that the property at issue was not included in the transaction, and second, that the bill of sale later signed by the parties did the same.

1. The REPC is Facially Ambiguous With Respect to Clause 1.1 and Addendum No. One.

The REPC's Clause 1.1 and Addendum No. One create a facially ambiguous contract provision when viewed together, because the provision is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation. The trial court's determination that the contract at issue was facially unambiguous rested in large part on its analysis of Clause 1.1 of the REPC, which it found was "identical" to a contractual provision interpreted in a case recently decided by this court, *Flores v. Earnshaw*. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, ¶ 4.

Flores dealt with the sale of a not-yet-built condominium by use of a standard form Real Estate Purchase Contract similar to the one used in this case. 2009 UT App 90,

¶¶ 1–4. At issue was whether the parties had bargained for a fully built condominium unit, or merely a “shell,” i.e., a unit not containing all necessary fixtures and infrastructure to make the building inhabitable and complete. *Id.* at ¶¶ 5–6. Plaintiff’s argument was essentially that because the condominium unit did not yet exist, Clause 1.1—which specified that certain items were included “if presently owned and attached to the property”—was an ambiguous provision. *Id.* However, both parties were in agreement that the word “presently” referred to the date of the REPC’s execution, and furthermore that “none of the items listed in Clause 1.1 were ‘owned and attached to the property’ at the time the REPC was executed because the building was not yet constructed.” *Flores* ¶ 14. On this basis, the *Flores* court found no ambiguity. *Id.*

The trial court’s error here is the faulty analogy to *Flores*. The contractual language at issue in the two cases is not the same. *Flores* interpreted only the standard boilerplate of the REPC contract, and did not address the addition of additional terms by an addendum. In other words, the ambiguity of the boilerplate provision of Clause 1.1 is not the issue here; it is whether that provision even properly controls or modifies the language in Addendum One. Also, the transaction in *Flores* did not involve the transfer of personal property not located on the real property, as in this case. Furthermore, all the property at issue in this case actually existed at the time of sale, thus Clause 1.1 has significantly different implications here.

The standard boilerplate language of Clause 1.1 of the REPC reads as follows:

1.1 Included Items. Unless excluded herein, this sale includes the following items if presently owned and attached to the Property: plumbing, heating, air conditioning fixtures and equipment; ceiling fans; water heater; built-in

appliances; light fixtures and bulbs; bathroom fixtures; curtains, draperies and rods; window and door screens; storm doors and windows; window blinds; awnings; installed television antenna; satellite dishes and system; permanently affixed carpets; automatic garage door opener and accompanying transmitter(s); fencing; and trees and shrubs.

This was the portion of Clause 1.1 at issue in *Flores*, which was found to be unambiguous in terms of what is included in the sale. However, this language is not Clause 1.1 in its entirety. Clause 1.1 also contains the following sentence immediately after the language quoted above: “*The following items shall also be included in this sale and conveyed under separate Bill of Sale with warranties as to title:*” (emphasis added). This “also” provision of Clause 1.1 is followed by blank lines, on which, in the instant case—other items included in the sale are listed in handwriting. Here, the oven/range, refrigerator, and “window coverings as presently exist” are the items listed on those blank lines.

The items named in the boilerplate portion of Clause 1.1 all are linked by a common thread; they are all items physically attached and are thus considered “part of” that building, i.e., “fixtures.” As such, these fixtures are included in the sale, if present. However, it is the prerogative of the parties involved as to whether other, nonpermanent items, such as large household appliances should be included in the transaction. These items, while perhaps difficult to move, are not part of the building in the way that fixtures are.

Therefore, the “also included” portion of Clause 1.1 is significant in that it contemplates items not “presently owned and attached to the Property” in the way that fixtures necessarily must be. In other words, such items “also included” are not subject to

being presently owned and attached to the property, but are included in the transaction by virtue of a provision separate from the first part of Clause 1.1. Clearly then, personal property located away from the real property can be included, such as the seller's personal property located on adjoining real property, or in a storage facility offsite.

This "also included" clause is especially significant with respect to Addendum One of the REPC, as it highlights the inconsistencies in the trial court's ruling. Addendum One is incorporated into the agreement by Clause 9 of the REPC, and contains the following language, in pertinent part:

This is an addendum to [the REPC], including all prior addenda and counteroffers between Richard & Judy Flint as Buyer, and Marlene Stone as Seller, regarding the Property located at 6006 So. 7100 West Hooper. The following terms are hereby incorporated as part of the REPC: *Included items: All lounging/loafing sheds – panels, gates, feeders/waterers & horse walker as presently exist* (emphasis added).

Exh. 2; Add. 2; (R. at 0031-32.)(emphasis added).

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