2009

Marlene Stone v. Richard Flint, Judy Flint : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A bench trial was held on Richard and Judy Flint's Counterclaim for breach of contract and conversion of personal property, to-wit: three (3) loafing sheds and some non-fixed mobile panels. Buyers, Richard and Judy Flint, and Seller, Marlene Stone, signed a Real Estate Purchase Contract (REPC) on February 1, 2008 wherein a home located at 6006 South 7100 West, Hooper, Weber County, Utah; together with two (2) acres of land with a horse barn and hay barn were sold to the Flints by Marlene Stone.

Clause 1.1 of the REPC included fixtures and personal property if presently owned and attached to the property. This clause also states the following items should also be included in this sale and conveyed under separate Bill of Sale with warranties as to title: oven/range, refrigerator, window coverings as presently exist.

Later the same day, Addendum No. One to the REPC was also signed by the parties incorporating, as part of the REPC: Included items: "all lounging/loafing sheds, panels, gates, feeders/waterers and horse walker as presently exist. Seller to have property surveyed and four (4) corners staked to buyers' approval."

The home is described as being located at 6006 South 7100 West, Hooper, Weber County, Utah. The two (2) acres were to be surveyed and staked at a later time to be approved by the buyers with the provision the horse barn and hay barn were included. The personal property was to be described and conveyed under a separate Bill of Sale with warranties as to the title.

The two (2) acres were surveyed later and approved by the buyers prior to the closing on April 16, 2008. The home located at 6006 South 7100 West, Hooper, Utah and the two (2) acres, including the horse barn and hay barn, were conveyed to the buyers by means of a warranty deed. The personal property was described and conveyed to the buyer by a Bill of Sale with warranties also at closing on April 16, 2008.

The Bill of Sale, dated April 16, 2008, conveys to the buyers that certain personal property located now at 6006 South 7100 West, Hooper, Utah 84315 as follows: oven/range, refrigerator, window coverings, two (2) water irrigation sheds, all lounging and loafing sheds, panels, gates, feeders, waterers, and horse walker as presently exist.

Seller, Marlene Stone, was assigned by Hooper City the address of 5990 South 7100 West,

Hooper, Utah for her remaining 15 acres of property not sold to the Flints.

Prior to trial on April 15, and April 20, 2009, the parties signed a Confidential General Release and Settlement Agreement on February 2 and February 3, 2009 and filed it with the court. The parties stipulated the only remaining issues for the court are whether three (3) sheds and several non-fixed mobile panels on seller, Marlene Stone's property are part of a Bill of Sale and Real Estate Purchase Contract, both dated April 16, 2008.

Clause 9 of the Confidential General Release states, it is acknowledged by the parties there is a horse walker that is located on the Stone's real property, but which is the property of the Flints, pursuant to an April 16, 2008 Real Estate Purchase Contract and accompanying Bill of Sale, of the same date of this statement, and is in no way an admission conveying the rightful ownership of the loafing sheds or any remaining property on the Stone's land and which the Flints claim an interest in by virtue of said contracts.

Clause 10 states, the Flints agree to remove the horse walker by January 30, 2009 onto their two (2) acres.

The trial court correctly ruled that clause 1.1 of the REPC is not ambiguous and cannot be read to include any items of personal property not presently owned and attached to the property located at 6006 South 7100 West, Hooper, Utah. Accordingly, the three (3) loafing sheds and panels located on Marlene Stone's remaining 15 acres were not conveyed to the buyers, Richard and Judy Flint.

Moreover, the Bill of Sale, which in the final, integrated explanation of the parties' intent, transferred only that certain personal property now at 6006 South 7100 West, Hooper, Utah.

Consequently, the Flints are only entitled to receive three (3) loafing sheds and the panels on their two (2) acres located at 6006 South 7100 West, Hooper, Utah and not those located on Marlene Stone's remaining 15 acres. The Bill of Sale is not ambiguous and can only be interpreted to convey the personal property located on the Flints' two (2) acres at the time the Bill of Sale was signed on April 16, 2008.

The trial court correctly excluded the testimony of witness, Jeffrey Dean Harris, on grounds of relevancy. The proffered testimony of Jeffery Harris as to his conversation with seller, Marlene Stone, concerning his inquiry to purchase two acres and some personal property on a different day, time, and location was properly excluded based upon Marlene Stone's counsel's objection as to hearsay and relevancy.

The trial court did not err in excluding and misstating certain alleged salient facts from its Findings of Fact. Flints argue because seller, Marlene Stone, did not dispute the Flints' right to the horse walker, feeder, and waterers at trial; that their extrinsic facts are important for the Court to determine whether the REPC and Bill of Sale are ambiguous. The only trial issues were stipulated to be awarding of three (3) loafing sheds and various panels located on Marlene Stones' property. The ownership of the horse walker was stipulated to in the Confidential General Release and the issue of ownership of feeders and walkers was stipulated not to be a trial issue.

Seller, Marlene Stone, should be awarded her attorney fees on appeal based upon the REPC and terms of the Confidential General Release, considering she was awarded her costs and attorney fees at trial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT NEITHER THE REAL ESTATE PURCHASE CONTRACT NOR THE BILL OF SALE ARE AMBIGUOUS.

The trial court correctly ruled neither the Real Estate Purchase Contract (REPC) nor the Bill of Sale, dated April 16, 2008, are ambiguous thereby permitting the trial court to interpret the contracts as a matter of law.

“The underlying purpose in construing or interpreting a contract is to ascertain the intentions of the parties to the contract.” *WebBank v. American Gen. Annuity Svc. Corp.*, 2002 UT 88, ¶ 17, 54 P.3d 1139.

1139. When interpreting a contract, “we look to the writing itself to ascertain the parties’ intentions, and we consider each contract provision...in relation to all of the others, with a view toward giving effect to all and ignoring none.” “If the language within the four corners of the contract is unambiguous, the parties’ intentions are determined from the plain meaning of the contractual language, and the contract may be interpreted as a matter of law.” *Green River Canal Co. v. Thayn* 2003 UT 42, 84 P. 3d 1134,1141 (Utah 2003).

[5] ¶ 25 A contractual term or provision is ambiguous “if it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation because of ‘uncertain meanings of terms, missing terms, or other facial deficiencies.’ ” *Daines v. Vincent* 2008 UT 51, 190 P.3d 1269, 1275 (Utah 2008).

Contractual ambiguity can occur in two different contexts: (1) facial ambiguity with regard to the language of the contract and (2) ambiguity with regard to the intent of the contracting parties. 907 p.2d at 268. The first context presents a question of law to be determined by the judge. *WebBank*, 2002 UT 88, ¶ 22, 54 P.3d 1139. The second context presents a question of fact where, if the judge determines that the contract is facially ambiguous, “parol evidence of the parties’ intentions should be admitted.” *Id.* at 1275-1276.

In Ward v. Intermountain Farmers Ass'n, 907 P.2d 264, 268 the Supreme Court of Utah set forth a two-part standard for determining facial ambiguity. First, we indicated that “[w]hen determining whether a contract is ambiguous, any relevant evidence must be considered. Otherwise, the determination of ambiguity is inherently one-sided, namely, it is based solely on the ‘extrinsic evidence of the judge’s own linguistic education and experience.’ ” Second, after a judge considers relevant and credible evidence of contrary interpretations, the judge must ensure that “the interpretations contended for are reasonably supported by the language of the contract.”

In Daines v. Vincent, *id.* at 1276, the Supreme Court of Utah held: In articulating the *Ward* rule, we sought to establish a balanced, “better-reasoned” approach to an analysis of facial ambiguity that would allow judges to “consider the writing in the light of the surrounding circumstances.” *Id.* However, we did not intend that a judge allow surrounding circumstances to create ambiguity where the language of a contract would not otherwise permit. In other words, our statement that “[r]ational interpretation requires at least a preliminary consideration of all credible evidence,” does not create a preference for that evidence over the language of the contract. Thus, under *Ward*, a finding of ambiguity after a review of relevant, extrinsic evidence is appropriate only when “reasonably supported by the language of the contract.” *Ward*, 907 P.2d at 268.

The principles of *Ward*, *id.*, were succinctly set forth in Café Rio, Inc. v. Larkin-Gifford-Overton, LLC, 629 Utah Adv. Rep. 21, 22-23 as follows: Under well-accepted rules of contract interpretation, we look to the language of the contract to determine its meaning and the intent of the contracting parties. We also “consider each contract provision...in relation to all of the others, with a view toward giving effect to all and ignoring none.” Where “the language within the four corners of the contract is unambiguous, the parties’ intentions are determined from the

plain meaning of the contractual language, and the contract may be interpreted as a matter of law.” Only if the language of the contract is ambiguous will we consider extrinsic evidence of the parties’ intent. We have explained that “ambiguity exists in a contract term or provision if it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation because of uncertain meanings of terms, missing terms, or other facial deficiencies.” Additionally, “[u]nder the well-established rule of construction *ejusdem generis*,” we determine the meaning of a general contractual term based on the specific enumerations that surround that term.

The trial court found the present case to be factually similar to *Flores v. Earnshaw*, 2009 UT 90, 627 Utah Adv. Rep 13. In *Flores*, the parties disagreed if personal property, as enumerated in Clause 1.1 of the REPC, was indicated in the sale. The Utah Court of Appeals held Clause 1.1 was not ambiguous as the personal property was included in the sale if presently owned and attached to the property. The Court of Appeals ruled the personal property was not included in the sale because the personal property was not “presently owned and attached to the property” because the condominium was yet to be built.

In the present case, the trial court ruled the three (3) loafing sheds and panels the Flints sought were not “presently owned and attached” to the two (2) acres the Flints purchased from Marlene Stone. It is undisputed, as demonstrated by Plaintiff’s exhibit 1, the loafing sheds labeled A, B, and E, nor the panels, are “presently owned and attached to the property” purchased by the Flints. The trial court further ruled, the Bill of Sale, which is the final, integrated expression of the parties’ intent, only transferred those items of personal property “now at 6006 South 7100 West, Hooper, Utah.” The trial court ruled the three (3) loafing sheds and panels located on the Flints’ two (2) acres, were awarded to them but the three (3) loafing sheds and

panels located on Marlene Stone's remaining 15 acres located at 5990 South 7100 West, Hooper, Utah, remained her property.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUSTAINING PLAINTIFF'S OBJECTION TO DEFENDANT'S WITNESS'S TESTIMONY ON GROUNDS OF HEARSAY AND RELEVANCE.

Counsel for the Flints called Jeffrey Dean Harris as a witness to testify concerning a meeting he had with Marlene Stone to discuss possible purchase of two (2) acres and some personal property to be included in the sale. Counsel for Marlene Stone objected to the testimony of the witness when asked what did Marlene Stone state, "was the personal property that was included with that purchase." (R at 133)

The trial court ruled it was clearly hearsay (R at 135) and requested counsel for the Flints to point to an exception to the hearsay rule that would allow the testimony to come in. (R at 135) Counsel for the Flints cited Rule 803(3), Utah Rules of Evidence, the existing mental state of mind of the declarant, (Marlene Stone).

Counsel for Marlene Stone then objected on the grounds of relevance as the conversation with the witness, Jeffrey Harris, occurred on a different day, different time, and it is not material nor relevant to the Flints' case. The Court sustained that objection. (R at 136)

Testimony by the witness about what Marlene Stone may have said on a different occasion and date is clearly hearsay and not relevant to the case between the Flints and Marlene Stone. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible, pursuant to Rule 402, Utah Rules of Evidence, and the testimony of the witness was clearly hearsay. Defendants, Flints' witness's testimony was correctly excluded by the trial court.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING AND ALLEGEDLY MISSTATING SALIENT FACTS FROM ITS FINDINGS OF FACT

Counsel for the Flints argues that paragraphs 12 and 13 of the Findings of Fact refer only to three (3) lounging/loading sheds, and some mobile gates and panels on Marlene Stone's property being in dispute in the suit. The only possible reference to structures in Findings of Fact 13 was the last sentence that the parties had no further discussion regarding the structures as they may lie inside and outside the two (2) acres.

The Flints argue it is important that they allegedly took possession of all the feeders, waterers, and horse walker located on Marlene Stone's property and the Court failed to include those facts in its Findings. However, the parties stipulated the only trial issues were ownership of the lounging/loafing sheds and the non-fixed mobile panels. The parties stipulated, in their Confidential General Release, those were the only two issues and that the horse walker was the property of the Flints and included in the Bill of Sale. The location and ownership of the feeders and waterers was irrelevant at the time of trial and was not contested by either party. The parties and the trial court are bound by the agreement of the parties as to what issues were contested and to be decided by the trial court.

CONCLUSION AND REQUEST FOR RELIEF


The trial court's determination that the Real Estate Purchase Contract and the Bill of Sale are not ambiguous should be affirmed. The trial court's interpretation that the loafing/lounging sheds and mobile panels were not "presently attached" to the property purchased by the Flints nor were these items of personal property, "now at 6006 South 7100 West, Hooper, Utah" at the time

the parties signed the REPC and Bill of Sale, should also be affirmed.

Plaintiff, Marlene Stone, should be awarded her attorney fees and costs on appeal, pursuant to Clause 17 of the REPC and also Clause 17 of the Confidential General Release and Settlement Agreement.